of Spynie, 623

NUMBER XL
PARISH or SPYNIE, or NEW SPYNIE.
( County and Synod of Moray.—Prefbytery of Elgin.)

By the Reverend Mr Anramanm GorbpoN, Miniffer.

Name, Lake, Fifb, {Zc.

HE Locu of Sernig, which has given this parith its
nune, 5 the firit objedt in a ftatiftical account wiuch
claiiis attention. ‘This lake 15 more than 3 mules in length,
and abour 1 in breadth. It bounds the parifh along s N,
fide, and appears to have been a Frith of the Se¢a, thouyu it
is now {hut up by a long extent of valuable land at each end,
both on the E. and W. Accoramgly part of the covnrry,
between the lake and the fea, fiill retains the n':me of Ross
Isn.e; and there is a place near its weftern end calle ' K Na
TRAE, (in Gaelic, Cean Traidke,) which fignifies, the Head
of the Tide. Befide- which, beds of fhells, principally oyfs
ters, which are not now tound on the coaft. are frequently
difcovered on the banks of the like, feveral feet below the

{urtace of the earth ®, This lake abounds with fwans;
and

* It appears, from the Chartulary of Moray, that, in the 1gth
century, {mall boals were fent irom the village of Spynie to
fith in the fea; in tcfhmony of which, a heap of fhells, callefted
by the fithers, wus {ately difcovered, under a thin covering of

earth, on the ground where the village ftood. It alfo app;:-ars,
rem
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624 Statiftical Account

and Forpow, in his Hiftory, remarks it as a curiofity.
There are alfo perch and trout in this lake.

Palace.~The Bisror’s PaLacr is the next objelt to
which the attention is moft naturally called. It is fituated

in the eaftern extremity of the parith, on the bank of the
' lake ;

from the chartulary, that, in 1451y the bifhop got this village
ercéted into a burgh of baroay, and the next year into a burgh
of regality ; but there is now no other vellige of it than a mar-
ket crofs. Bur although it is evident, that, at a period compa-
ratively not remote, the {ea flowed into the fpace which the
lake now occupies, and covered, befides, a large extent of land
at each end of it ; yet it is alfo obvious, that, at a [lill more re.
cent period, the bounds of this lake were more hmited than at
prefent. For, a few yearsago, when the ¢anal, which kad long
been negleted, was cleaned out and enlarged, a caufeway was
difcovered, ftretching from this parifh quite acrofs the lake, in
which there were feveral paffages for the water, each about 3
fect wide, and covered by a thick flag.ftone ; and, upon irs ap.
pearance, a tradition was recolle@ed, that this caufeway was cal-
led the Bifhop’s Steps, and bhad been formed by his influence,
for the accommodation of the minifiers of St. Andrew’s, who
officiated alfo in the church of Ogugfion, (fince united to Drainy,)
both baving been menfal churches before the eftablifhment of
Prefbytery, Bithop Falconer told the author this; and that
the Bithop’s prieft, who officiated, had prayers in the forenoon
in the one, and in the afternoon in the other, sod thereafier
his dinner in the Caftle every Sunday. This caufeway was
foon converted, by Mr Branner of FiTeaveny, inte a {ubflan-
tial road, by which a more dire®t communication was opcned
between Elgin and the fhore. And as he is now further im-
pmviug the canal, fo as to gain nearly two feet of additional
fall, it 1s expeéted, when this work is completed, that the lake will
be again rediced to its ancient narrow hmits. It may be farther
obferved, that it has been conje@lured, that the vaft gnantity of
Tand waflved up by the fea, on the cozft between Nairn and Find-
hord, asnd drifted ealtward by the wind over the eltate of Cud
bin, defliroyed the oyfiers on thé coaft, and firut up the Izke on
the wef, which, preventing any current, permitted the alluvion
of the, river Spey to clofg it in at the caft, as the appearance of

the ground feems fill to (hew,
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af Spynie. 625

lake; and near to it, where the water is deepeft, a {mali ar-
tificial ifland emerged, upon clearing out the canal, of an
oval form, about 6o by 16 paces, appearing to be compofed
of ftones from the quarry, beund rogether by crooked branches
of oak, and as if the earth, wirth which it was completed,
had been wholly wailed off during its fubmerfion. The
palace itfeclf was a magnificent and fpacious bwilding, round
a fquare court, having rhe gare on the eaft ﬁ{i‘c:ahd fortified
by towers at the corners, and a dry ditch on the weft and

fouth, contoming lofiy halls, deep vaults, a chapel, ftables,

and other offices *. The remnains of pamtings, on a part of

Vor. X. 4 R the

* Spynie Palace has been fo often defenibed by antiquanans,
that it would be ufelefs to recupitulate thefubgedt at large. It may,
however, be obferved, that although theie s no certa.aty when
the palice was firft founded, yei the uithopric was ereted by
Marcorm CarMore, anno (057 : and we are auihoriled o fay,
that Gricory was appointed bithap here, in the year 1107, by
the Cartulary of Drumterling, wien King Vraciiam confirmed to
that monaflery the cell of Urqubart, 1n this neigiibourhood, and
renewed the privileges and gifis to this abbacy, made by Mac-
<orm, and the worthy St. Mazcarsr his wifee K.og James
11. anno i 450, by his charter in the public records, refers alfe 1o
l;hcgiﬁs made by that Hjng': fucceflors, Dvwcan, Encgar, E1HEL.
24D his brother, AvLsxanD2Rr, and Sverrna his Queen, Davin,
Marcorm, Wirriam, and Roserrt Brycs, fuccetlively., H.nce
we may infer, that the fame Kit}g Malcelm Canmore crefted this
dwcele, at this period, and the bithops occupied thechurchasaca-
thedral ; and made thetr refidence here, as well «s at Birnie and
King-edward, where they lived in Caitles, which are (till remain.
ing iu ruias. This church continued to be the domicil of the
bithop till the Revolution: 1t food where the cathedral was efbu-
blilhed, til! the year 1224; when ¥Xing Avnsxanoer LI’ man.
date authorifed its tranflation to Elgin. ivis dated the 1oth yearof
his reign, and the deed is granted, Apud Muflylir. guints diz
Fafii The cathedral of Elgin was founded by .\upasw Mua-
nay, fon of William Murray of Duffus. The Muarrays of
Dwuffus had the lands of Kintrae and Leggat, in this parith, from
King Dawvip 1. along with the great eftate of Luffus and Og-
fion. Of this great family are defcended the Sutherlanda,

the Douglases, and the Murrays, in the fouth.
The
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626 : Sratiffical Account

the walls, were fo diftinét, a few years ago, as to {hew, that a
landfcape with trees, and feveral reprefentations of feriptural
hiftory,

The boundaries of eflates were early attended to. There was a
diftin& march, dividing Spynie and Findraflie from Kintrae and
Quarrywood, by agreement, in 1226, betwe:n Hueu de Mora-
via, and his brother the bithop, and eftablithing the road to
Sherriffmiln, Auchter Spynie, and Elgin, the march of proper-
ty; declaring the muirs to the eaE peutral ground  The

parifh confifted off church linds and King’s lands. Thofe
ﬂf the church wete Spynie, Myrepide, Bifbopmitn, Murrayflon,
Burrowbrigs, Aughter-Spyrie, and Auldroehty. Thofe of the
Ciown were Legpat, Kintrae, and Duarryweod, and Barony of
Wellifield.

"T'he earliefl feu of the bifhop is that of a ftance for a miln vp-
on Avpchter Spynie, (Sherriffrmiln, ) in a donation of the fawd
Axprew, bifhop of Murray, to WarLter of Duﬂ'us, his bro-
ther, anno ¥r237. As on this flance alone, a muln is built, a
few rigs along with it, though 6 miles diftant from the baro-
ny, continued the miln of that efiate geo years, and lately were
purchafed, from Mr Arthur Duff, by the proprietor of Duffus,
whofe grandtather fold them to Lord Braco, in 1740, The lands
themfelves were feued before the year 1309, in favour of Apam
Stevew, burgels of Elgin ; and the {2id ftance of a miln is there
referved. Tﬁt:y were in the perfon of Thomas UraunarT of
Burdiyards, in 13gc. The lands of Auldrochry belonged to Ro-
bept Sibbald, in 1398 Findraflie was fewed by the bithop to
Jown, Dominus de Toilres, and Marcarer his wife, anno 1378,

The remaining lands of the church continued with the bilhop
tiil the eve of the Reformation, when Bifhop Hepburn made

reat havock. What of them were faved from his prodigal
hands, with the feu doties and patronages, were granted by
James V1. in favour of Avsxawpix Liwpsay, who was created
Loxp Spynin, and the bifbopric erefled inte a temporal Lord-
fhip to him and his heirs apd aflignees, and to Jzan Lo,
Countels of Ancus, his wife.

This Alcxander Lindfay, a brother of the Earl of Craw-
YURD, wAas a great favourite of this Prince, who wrote him from
Denmark, advifing him to the marriage of Jean Lyon, in
thefe words: ¢ Dear Sandy, marry her—your young fou? will
¢ blaft her old forn.’—~About the year 1605, Lorn Srynis difs
poned the bithopric to the Dunbars of Weltheld, who after-

wards fold it to the family of Grange.
Burrow.
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hiftory, had been the defign . Adjoining to it alfo were
gardens, though of no great extent, now diftinguifhable only

by

Burrewsrigs and Myresips were feued out by Alexander
Douglas bithop of Murray, in 1629, to his fon. Adexander, and
Mary Innes his wife, who was proprietor alio of Spyme and
Murrayften, and died provoit of Banff, about 1669.

In this parifh hived the Dunbars of Weittield, a family which
flourifhed 400 years in ‘Murray, and the different branches of
which poflefied a great part of the country. A century ago,
there were 26 heritor: in the fthire, of whom only two now re-
main. QOf the fumily of Weltfield, and not of Mochrom, or
Awmach, {as feveral *authors narrate,) wa~ Gavin billop of
Aberdeen, fon of Arexanosr Dunsar of Welllield, and Eli-
zabeth Sutherland, daughter of Wilham Sutherland ot Duffus,
and laird of Quarrywood and Lepgar, 1n this parith  This
Alexander (hould have been Carl of Mutray in 1447, being the
enly fon of James, Earl of Murray, and Lurd of Frendravght.
The faid Bithop was Lord Regilter in 1503 ; Bithop of Aber.
deen in £518, and built the bridge of Lee, wiuch Bubop El-
phialton began, and mortified the lands of Ardiair in Ganech,
in 1529, to its fupport, nnder the m&na%;:mtnt of the Frovoft,
E.-"':I:uzi:s,) and Council of Aberdeen. ¢ endusd an hoipiral
or 12 poor men at Old Aberdeen, and mortified §0 merks
Sterling to two chaplains, payable out of the lands of Quarry.
wood and Leggat, in which he was infefted; and the de d was
confirmed by lgmg James V. proceeding on the faid William
Sutherland’s contraét to the Bithop. doted Apud Quarrywoed, dis
quinte menfis Augwfli, 1529, in which this remarkable condition
is inferted : "¢ Provifs mufuper, qued fi contingat sonetaw régni
¢ Scotive, feu erufv:s afterius resnsf, in Scotia curfum babentem, ad -
“ tius praefivm levari guam uwt nw.c in JHutione caprunt, unde Yeves
“ rendus ipf¢ pater, aut heredes, fin affignati, fen quicungue pauperioris
¢ gut deterioriy conditions officiantes, in eo cafu oblige et affrinze
¢ pracdiliar terras meas, de Ruarrywesd, et Legpat, pofeffion-fus
¢ gquibufeungue didti aumwi rediditus, ad lolvendum pro qualibet
¢ Marca et viginti duabus denariis, unum unciam puri argenti
¢ quod creat ad minus Avswyng Pewny Fyue, ved &ur veram
¢ walorem, in ufuale Moncta Regnr Scotive, pro quibus heebit 1pfis
< poffefforibus dilli annui redditus, ipfas terrar, pro fe awt fuss oficia-
¢ reos, aul fallores, difiringere ef mamare.’—Inltead thevefore of
2l 1g3, 68;d. Sterling, the reddendo ought to' be about gl. y2s.

'ﬁ ttrl ing-r

# 1t is hardly poflible to furvey thefe ruins of ecclefiaftical
) magniliceder,
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628 Statiftical Account

by the ruined walls, in which was the beft frait, faid to be
reared from plants of foreign countries. The whole pre-
cindls, which do not exceed 10 acres, are now the property
of the Crown, and are ket by the Court of Exchequer to the
Earl of Fife, the adjoning heritor, at the rent of 12 1. Ster-

ling.

Situation, Extent, Sugﬁrrf, Wosd, Mimerals, §fco—A great
part of this paruh lies pleafaotly fituated along the banks of
the Loflie, within view of Elgin, :ncluding Auchter-Spynie,
called alfo Upper Huwgh, Murraviton, called. in 1998, Mid
dle Haygh, then feded by the Bithop to Johin Dullas, fon

of

magnificence, without refleCting upon the almoft unlimited in-
floence which the elergy, for a long period, pofieffed over the
rmnds of men. In this enlightened aze, we can hardly think,
without mdignation, of thut fpiritu » bondage in whick cur an-
celtors were held ; but, perhaps, a pailofopher, in viewing the
Rate of fociety in this‘country, during the times of Epifvopacy,
when the police was extrerhely impr:r%cﬂ,. and the gevertment
t00 weak to entorce abedience to the laws, would confider the

reat afcerden: y of keclet.uitics to have been 2 happy circum-
ﬁxncc for the people, fesing it was often exerted to prevent and
to redrels injuriés from powerful Jaymdn ; and thus ferved to
mitigate thofe evils, which could énly be cured By the wifdom
and epergy of a better government.

Ahlbough no perfon, in the catalogue of the Morary Biswors,
made 4ny eounipicuous ligare as a ftatefman, wet, both in the
Romun Cachelic and Proteitant Charches, they appear to have
beenr men of wvery veflpedable charafters, and to have pofleficd
the regard and confidence of their relpedtive contemporaries,
having been oftesr chefen as the ashitrators of their difputes.
Several elltates are ihil bounded accurding to the decreets ar-
bitral of Corin Farcowen, the lalt bithop who inhabited this
palace, who-died, anno 1686, much efteerncd. The late PHEsDo,
‘and. Wrnaian Coming of Craigrlo, were at his burial, and
heard ofien to fuy, that the whole couutry, gé:.—r."r.- and femiple,
attended his funeral. Neither of his two fucceffors, {ALBxAN-
oxx- Ross apd Weiram Hay,) had apy peifonal refideucs in
their official charaer,
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of William Dallas of Strathardel,) and Wefler Haugh, now
called Burrewbrigs. From the caftern precinfts of the pa-
lace, a ridge of moor firetches the whole length of the pa
rith, nearly 4 miles, rifing gradually towards the weft into
a pretty high hill, and clothed almeoft throughout its whele
extent with thriviog plantations of fir, interfperfed with other
. forefl trees. The medium breadth of the parith is nearly two
miles. On the fouth fide of the higheft part of this ridge, about
a mile weftward from Elgin, on the poft road to Forres, there
is a large extent of very flourithing natural oak wood, the pro-
perty of the Earl of Fife, who hay inclofed it with a {ubftan.
tial ftone wall, and keeps it properly thinned and clear of
underwood, fo that, when fully grown, its valoe muft be
very confiderable, Under a thin firatum of moorith foil,
the whole of this ridge feems to be a mafs of excellent hard
free ftone 3 of which there is a quarry, near the fominit of the
hill, that fupplies a large extent of country with mifl-ftones,
and the town of Elgin and the neighbourhood with ftones
for building. When the intended BripDGE ovERrR THE
SreT at Fochabers comes to be crofled, it will,' no doubt,
occur to thofe concerned, that they can no where be fop-
plied with better ftones, or at a cheaper rate, than from the
Earl of Firg’s quarry in this parifb. '

Soil, Climote, River, r.—Upon each fide of this ridge
lies the whole of the cultivated land, in which almoft every
variety of foil is to be met with, from the heavie clay to
the lighteft fand. The air is healthy, md, on the fouth
fide of the hill, peculiarly foft and warm, during = geeat
peoportion of the year: On the north fide, the ellowmee is
not fo pleafant, the foil being wet and cold, and the lake of~
ten emitting a very thick and dilagreeable fog. Thefe dik
advantages do mnot, however, feem to have any bad cifolts

upon
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upon the health of the inhabitants, no dileafe being more
prevalent here than in any other part of the country.—This
parith is bounded on tha S. throughout the greateit part of
its length, by the river Lofie, excepting that oppefite to the
town of Eigin there is a finc fierd of aboutr 4o acres, called
Brrough bridge, which belongs to this parifh, though oo the
fouth fide of the river : The resfon of this is, that the Loffie
foermerly run clofe by the town, as appears from cthe title
deeds of the properties in the adjoining quarrter of the buvgh,
which till bound them by the river, although this valuable
field, the property of the Earl of FinpLaTER, has been,
from time immemorial, interjefted berween them, ['he ree
verfe of this has happened a little wower down, 1n a imuli fe-
micircular field, called Deaw’s Crock, which has been evident=
ly cat off from the Cathedral lands ot Elgin, by the river
occupying the diameter inftead of the periphery, which fiill

remains a reedy pond.

Produce.~—The produélions of the parith are in no refpeét
different from thofe of the country around. Grain, includ-
ing peafe and beans, is the article on which the tenants
chiefly depend for the payment of their rents, and the pur-
chale of the neceflaries of life. On the larger farms, which
are rented by gentlemen, turnips and fown grafs have their
places in the rotation of crops ; but, on the fmmaller, none of
the modern improvements in agriculture have yet been a-
dopted *. Every farmer, however, raifes hay, the foil being

very

* Thirty years ago, neither turnips nor potatoes were known
in this parith, except a few in gardens. The principal farmers
bave now both in abundance in the open helds, and partake of
the profits of thefe vfefnl produétions. Grafs feeds, fuch as

¢-grals and clover, were equully unknown 40 years ago. A
few familics of rank, in the ncighbourhood, began to raife grafs 5

) ALl
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very produftive, and the fmall poffeflor. finds it his advane
tage, as o.:¢ acre will produce 300 flones, when properly cul-
tured, which anfwers tor the food of cattle in fummer, and
prevents their ferdme them to the Highland Glens, 40
iniles diftance, which was their former practice, and ftill
partly prevails, In this partfh 2nd the neighbourhood, with-
in 4 miles of each othier. there are ¢ pidpecn boufer well ftor-
ed ; a fign of the good grain of the parith, which, upon an
average, weighs from 18 to 2o ftones, per boll, of barley;
15 itone, per boll, of oats; and 16 ftone, per boll, of wheat,
The wheat is meal meaiure ‘[That of the other grain cx-

ceeds the Linlithgow boll about a peck.

Cultivation, Farm Rents, £'¢,—~The farm of Sherriffiniln,
rented by James Warker, Efg; M. D. claims particular
notice in an account of this kind. This gentleman, in the
carly part of his life, entered, with all the ardour of enthu.
fiafm, into the horie-hoeing hufbandry, on the plan of
Jerrro TuiL; in which he has ever fince perfevered
with unfailing fteadinefs, raifing crops of wheat, barley, and
beans, in drills without a particle of dung, always following
the intervals, (about 3 feet,) for cach fucceeding crop; and
thus compleatly demonfirating the effeét of cultivation withe
out the ufe of manure. Although every operation has been
performed with the niceft accuracy, and in its proper feafon,
and though the foil of Sherriffmiln feems to be well calcu-
lated for this kind of hufbandry, being light and fandy, yet
the refult has not been fuch as to encourage imitation. The
corn is indeed fuperior in quality to any in the country; -

but the quantity by the acre mmuch /s than is raifed in the
broad.

and a gardener in Elgin, who had been bred- in London, was
employed to cur the grafs, and overfee the hay, for the feythe
was then little known, and could not be ufed.
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broad.caft way, on the fame kind of foil, well plowed and
manured. The average rent, per acre, is about 15s. the
clay land letting at 1 1. the fandy foils at about 10s. and
thofe of the intermediate qualities from 14s. to 17s. the
acre *. Although the clay land in generil produces large
crops, yet, on account of the additional expence which at-
tends the management of it, it is not by many reckoned the
moft profitable ; as the labour of this foil is often fufpended
faor a great part of the winter, and in the beginning of {pring,
while all the neceflary operations of that feafon are diligently
profecuted on the drier lands,

Improvements.

® [n this parith, and generally in the whole parifhes of the
country, the lund.lords orew a vifual rent; and this prac.
tile continued tl) Lora Fife introduced a converfion at 12 and
12 ¢, 6d, per boll. Tf the ancient rents were exadfred, ipfr cor-
poridus, it wonld be found, that, on the average value of grain,
the prefent rents would not much exceed the rents eftablifhed
190 or 200 years ago. For, by the valuation of teinds, anno
1629, Spynie, on the one end of the parifh, is then rented at 108
bolis, and now pays the heritor, exclufive of the precin® or
bilhops part, 72 ). Sterling. The farm of Sherriffmiln, then
rented at §o0 bolls, now pays ¢81. In the vicinity of the town
of Elgin, and in the other part of the parifh, Kintrae was given
uvp, anoo 1629, at the yearly rent of 130 bolls of viftoal, and
recently fet by Lord Fife at 118 L. 14 5. of money, and zo bolls
of wheat. This, reckoned with the firlt gquality of foil in the
country, is about 20 s, per acre; which, eltimating the value of
a boll at 16 8. proves, that the prefent reddends frarcely exceeds
the ancient exaction ; and Likewile Thows, whether the farmer has
impr!wed the method of cultivation, for he has no other foorce,
tut the prices of cattle, which, in the memory of man, have
been tripled in value. If the cafe were otherwife, the tenant
flilt could not pay, nor the land-lord receive, ‘the ftipulated
rents exigible 170 years ago.—-]It alfo proves that viftual, then
walaed at 5 1. Scorch the boll, has not been doubled, when every
other article of life has been doubled, tripled, and quadrupled.
Servants wages, in this parith, 40 years ago, were, for a plough-
mah, 10l Scotch half yearly, now gol. ; and excesding it in
many parts of the country.
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Tmprovements.—~The induftry of the farmer will often in-
creafe the value of a farm, where the fluggard will ftarve. A
remarkable inftance of this occurs in the improvement of the

- farm of Murraylton, which was poflefled by Mr James Dun-
can, a2nd held by 4 tenants, at the low rent of 70 bolls, in the
year 1064, when they all became bankrupts. The land-
helder then adapted his converfion for 19 years to Mr Deo-
‘naldion, who exerted much indufiry, and improved the
farm greatly. On hie refignation, Mr Duncan entered at
an advanced rent of 10l. He lives as comfortably as Mre
Donaldfon did; and now, befides the profits of his crop,
by attention to the dairy zlone, draws, for milk and butter,
150 1. yearly.—It may be obferved, that the farm of Burrow.
brigs was, 170 years 2go, anly rented at 18 bolls of viftual*;
‘but now it rents at rool. Sterling, owing to its vicinity to
the barrow lands of Elgin., As a farther evidence of what
‘the grounds, by proper cultivation, may produce, Mr Ruf-
fell, the proprictor of Weftfield, has let his eftate in lots of
from 20 to 4o acres, and built houfes for the inhabitants,

whereby he gets a rent of from 3jo0s. to 40s. per acre.  So
VoL, X. 4L ! that

« By the Sherriff Court records it appears, that the price of

"a boll of viftnal was 81 anno 1635, 61 135 4d. in 1636,
ol in 1642. 61. in 1644, 12 I in 1647, and gl in 1640; and
bear given in charity rol. per boll, that is, a peck to the boll ; and
8L tgm- the meal. Country cloth was jod. perell; haulf a
merk for a pair of hofe ; a merk for a pair of fhoes; and 8L

for the ftone of wool, in 1649. A white horned wedder was

fold for 2 1. Scots, and a young gimtoer for the fame; 3 cart

.of peats for 45 ; B tops for a boll of houlehold meal; a good
horned cow tor 1Bl. Scotch; a grey horfe to the Laird of Innes

- 20 dollars § falt §). per boli; and a pound of onion feed for
4. A man fervant’s fee was 4L 3s. 4d. for the hall year,

_ip the year 15491 and in a procefs at the inRance of Robert
 Gutherie in Speylla againft Bedie I}uughs, good w:_fe of Len.
chers, fhe is decerned in 20 merks for sk boll of viftual oats,

that is, 5 firlots, {fcarcely 6 firlots of Linlithgow meafure, ) crop

1549
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that this eftate, bought fome years ago at 6ooo l. draws now
more than 400 l. annually.

Cattle.—~There are 201 horfes and 560 black cattle in the
parifh, befides 14 large oxen, which go in pairs either in the
plough or wain. Before the moor was planted, aimoft every
tenant had a fmall flock of fheep: but now there are not
above 200 fheep in the parith : And thefe are chicfly of a
fmall white-faced breed, which has been in this country
from time immemorial. There is little attention paid to the
breeding or improvement of black cattle, except by a few of
the gentlemen, who alone turn this branch of hufbandry to
any account.

Rent and Proprietors.—The valued rent is 30551 35 8.
Scotch *, which is divided among g heritors, exclufive of the
precinét of Spynie; belonging, as was faid, to the Crown.
Befides the farm of Spynie, the Earl of Firg holds all the
lands in the north and weft, except the eftate of Weftfield,
the property of Francis Russer, Efg; of Blackhall, Ad-
vocate. The Earl of FiNpLATER holds the lands of Bur-
roughbridge, lying between the Loflic and the town of El-
gin 3 as well as the Jands of Greenhall, Myrefide, and Bithop-
miln, in the caft, between Spynie and Elgin ; Jamss MiLn,
XKfq; having only the milns of Bithopmiln, with a fmall con-
tiguous property. And the LessLies of Findraffie have
long pofiefled that efiate, on the fide of the lake, between
the propertics of the two Earls, '

LPopalation.

* By the old valuation roll of this county, in the year 1667,
the real rent is faid to- have been 198,2171. 138. Scotch,
g 16,5 }fl. 2s. 9d. Sterling,) and the yalued rent 66,072 115, 21d.
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of Spynie. - 635

Population.—The population feems to have decreafed in
the courfe of the laft 30 years, Although there are no ve-
¢y large farms in the parith (there being only one that ex-
cceds 100 acres), yet there are feveral, in which, within that
period, one tenant has {ucceeded to q4o05. It is probable, that
the population may be ftill a little farther diminithed, as
nearly one half of the parith confifts of farms from 20 to
40 acres, which the proprietors may through time fce pro-
per to lay out in larger tencments.

The return to Dr Webiter, in 1755, was 865 fouls,
The number of fouls at prefent is,

Males =~ . - - 280
Females - - - 313
. — 6oz
Decreafe 203
Of thefe there are, of the Epifcopal perfua-
fion, g families, confifting of about 30 perlons,
The annual average of births *, for 7 years, is 12
Ditto of marriages * - - - - 6

Manufaélures.—The only manufatory of this parith is
that erefted by Mr }John Ritchie, merchant in Elgin. In the
eaftmoft part of this parilh, on the river of Loflie, within. a
half mile of the town of Elgin, he has built on 2 feu belong-
ing to him, a mill for the manufutory of tobacco, a waulk-
mill, a flax mill, and bleaching machinery, which has brought
to great perfeftion the bleaching of linens and thread ; and
he is, with great afli.luity, giving every hope of bringing thefe

ufeful and laudable inventions to perfeétion. :
Fuel,

* Thefe averages are tuken from the parith regifler, from
1784 to 1790, inclufive, a period in which it appears to have
been very exadlly kept.
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Fyel.wmCozls may now be had at fo moderate 2 price, and
-in 3 few years there will alfo be fuch abundance of wopd,
that it is hardly neceflary to notice the prefent fearcity of
fuel for domettic accommodation.

Ecclefiaffical State,—The church and manfe were moft
pleafantly firuated at the ealtern extremity, in the vi:?nity‘nf
the Caftle, until the ycar 1736, when they were removed to
Duarrywoed, a more centrical, though more bleak Gtoation,
nearly under the higheft part of the north fide of the hill
Both are ar prefent in pretty good repair; and the glebe
and garden, confifting uf about 6 acres, are both fubftan-
tially inclofed with ftoue walls. The fhipend, including 6o
merks for communion clements, is 3o l. Sterling, and 64

bolls of bear.

Antiguities.—The remains of a Danifh camp * are fiill
very confmenons on the hill of Duarrywoed, It would ap-
p::ar that thole Danes, who inhabited the burgh (.Ewrgﬂr)
in this ncighbourhoed, had ereéted it as an afylum for their
famiiies. It commands a view of the whole county, and a
pleafant profpeét into the counties of Caithnefs, Sutherland,
Rofs, Invernels, Nairn, Banfl, and Aberdeen. It is worthy
of Lord Fyfe's notice, and becoming his talle, in beautifying
the couaty, to renew this monument, and perpetuate its an-

tiquity.
- Advantages.

* PBoth Forrow and Brewanan give account of the Danes
landing in Murray, about the year 1008, when Malcolm Il
marched againlt them, fought, and was defeated at Forres,
1n the carcer of their {uccefs, they fent for their families, wheo
toyed the land till they were repeatedly defeated at Gamerie

anff-fhire, and Cruden in Buchan, where the Danifh camps

afe Rill to be feen.
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of Spynie, 537

Advantager.~One great advantage, which this parifh in a
peculiar manner ¢njoys, is the abundance of ftone fo well
adapted both for building and inclofing ; of which, however,
the inhabitants have not yet availed theodelves in any great
degree. ' Befides thi-, no part of the parifth is inconvenicnt.
ly diftant from cither of the harbours of Lofficincuth or
Findhorn, or the markets of Elgin, to which laft there is at
all times an uninterrupted accefs by a handfome itone bridge,
where the poft-road to Forres croflfes the Loffie, aboat the

middle of the fouth fide of the parifh.

Language—The language of the parifh is the Scotch diz-
Iz€t. Some of the names of places are evidently Gaelic,
fucl as Kintrae, Infbagarty®, ffnﬁi:—aﬁfﬁﬂgﬂiﬂj, the Leggat,
(an lag-fkad ), Bc. And it is highly probable that many
more of them are of Guelic origin, though they are now
corrupted or difguiled fp much, by having been fo long in
the mouths of Lowlanders, that it is hardly poffibie for a
Higblander to recognize them for his native tongue,

Charaéler, {9'c.—The people are indullrious and frugal, pof~
feffing alfo other wvirtues, not fo much the neceflzry confe-
quence of their fituation ; being in general honeft, benevoe

Jent and friendly, and entertaining =2 high refpeét for the
ordinances of religion, The drefs of the poorer tenants and

day-labourers is of the cheapeft kind, chiefly of home ma-
nufafture; that of the more fubftantial farmers, and their

fervants, is purchaled from the fhops of Elgin.

* The Prielt’s Iiland.
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